TESOL International Journal

Teaching English to Speakers of Other Languages

Volume 12 Issue 1 2017

ISSN 2094-3938



TESOL INTERNATIONAL JOURNAL

Volume 12 Issue 1, 2017

Special Issue Teaching, Learning, and Assessing Vocabulary

> Guest Editors Marina Dodigovic Stephen Jeaco Rining Wei

> > Chief Editor

Xinghua Liu

Published by the TESOL International Journal

http://www.tesol-international-journal.com

 $\ensuremath{\mathbb{C}}$ English Language Education Publishing Brisbane Australia

This book is in copyright. Subject to statutory exception no reproduction of any part may take place without the written permission of English Language Education Publishing.

No unauthorized photocopying

All rights reserved. No part of this book may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying or otherwise, without the prior written permission of English Language Education Publishing.

Chief Editor: Dr. Xinghua Liu

ISSN. 2094-3938

TESOL International Journal

Chief Editor

Xinghua Liu Shanghai Jiao Tong University, China

Associate Editors

Hanh thi Nguyen Hawaii Pacific University, USA Joseph P. Vitta Queen's University Belfast, UK

Dean Jorgensen Gachon University, South Korea Khadijeh Jafari Islamic Azad University of Gorgan, Iran

Editorial Board

Ai, Haiyang - University of Cincinnati, USA Anderson, Tim - University of British Columbia, Canada Arabmofrad, Ali - Golestan University, Iran Batziakas, Bill - Queen Mary University of London, UK Behfrouz, Behnam - University of Buraimi, Oman Bigdeli, Rouhollah Askari - Yasouj University, Iran Bretaña - Tan, Ma Joji - University of the Philippines, **Philippines** Çakir, İsmail - Erciyes University, Turkey Chang, Tzu-shan - Wenzao Ursuline University of Languages, Taiwan Choi, Jayoung - Georgia State University, USA Chuenchaichon, Yutthasak - Naresuan University, Thailand Chung, Edsoulla - University of Cambridge, UK Cutrone, Pino - Nagasaki University, Japan Dang, Doan-Trang Thi - Monash University, Australia Deng, Jun - Central South University, China Derakhshan, Ali - Golestan University, Iran Dodigovic, Marina - American University of Armenia, Armenia Yu, Jiying - Shanghai Jiao Tong University, China Farsani, Mohammad Amini - Kharazmi University, Iran Floris, Flora Debora - Petra Christian University, Indonesia Hos, Rabia - Zirve University, Turkey

Ji, Xiaoling - Shanghai Jiao Tong University, China Jiang, Xuan - St. Thomas University, USA Kambara, Hitomi - University of Oklahoma, USA Khajavi, Yaser - Shiraz university, Iran Lee, Sook Hee - Charles Sturt University, Australia

Li, Chili - Hubei University of Technology, China Li, Liang - Jilin Normal University, China Li, Yiying - Wenzao Ursuline University, Taiwan Lo, Yu-Chih - National Chin-Yi University of Technology, Taiwan Nguyen, Ha Thi - Monash University, Australia Niu, Ruiving - Guangdong University of Foreign Studies, China O'Brien, Lynda - University of Nottingham Ningbo, China

Rozells, Diane Judith - Sookmyung Women's University, S. Korea Salem, Ashraf Atta Mohamed Safein - Sadat Academy for Management Sciences, Egypt Sultana, Shahin - B. S. Abdur Rahman University, India Ta, Thanh Binh - Monash University, Australia Tran-Dang, Khanh-Linh - Monash University, Australia Ulla, Mark B. - Mindanao State University, Philippines Witte, Maria Martinez - Auburn University, USA Wu, Chiu-hui - Wenzao Ursuline University of Languages, Taiwan Yan, Yanxia - Xinhua University, China Zhang, Xinling - Shanghai University, China Zhao, Peiling - Central South University, China Zhao, Zhongbao - Hunan Institute of Science and Technology,

China

Contents

Trends in Vocabulary Research Marina Dodigovic, Stephen Jeaco, Rining Wei	1
A New Inventory of Vocabulary Learning Strategy for Chinese Tertiary EFL Learners <i>Xuelian Xu, Wen-Cheng Hsu</i>	7
"I Used Them Because I Had to ": The Effects of Explicit Instruction of Topic-Induced Word Combinations on ESL Writers <i>Jelena Colovic-Markovic</i>	32
The Effect of Input Enhancement on Vocabulary Learning: Is There An Impact upon Receptive And Productive Knowledge? <i>Christian Jones, Daniel Waller</i>	48
Vocabulary Teaching: Insights from Lexical Errors M ^a Pilar Agustín-Llach	63
Lexical Transfer in the writing of Chinese learners of English Marina Dodigovic, Chengchen Ma, Song Jing	75
Helping Language Learners Get Started with Concordancing Stephen Jeaco	91
Self-assigned Ranking of L2 Vocabulary Heidi Brumbaugh, Trude Heift	111
Recognition Vocabulary Knowledge and Intelligence as Predictors of Academic Achievement in EFL Context <i>Ahmed Masrai, James Milton</i>	128
Using Category Generation Tasks to Estimate Productive Vocabulary Size in a Foreign Language	
Shadan Roghani, James Milton How General is the Vocabulary in a General English Language Textbook?	143
Hedy McGarrell, Nga Tuiet Zyong Nguien	160
A Corpus Comparison Approach for Estimating the Vocabulary Load of Medical Textbooks Using The GSL, AWL, and EAP Science Lists Betsy Quero	177

Trends in Vocabulary Research

Marina Dodigovic*

American University of Armenia, Armenia

Stephen Jeaco

Xi'an Jiaotong-Liverpool University, China

Rining Wei

Xi'an Jiaotong-Liverpool University, China

The Guiding Ideas

This issue is dedicated to vocabulary teaching, learning and assessment. The topic is timely, as vocabulary research is one of the fastest growing areas in applied linguistics and TESOL. Some of its most prominent areas are represented here, including vocabulary knowledge, the processes that lead to vocabulary learning, ways of assessing aspects of vocabulary knowledge as well as lexical errors. Understanding how vocabulary works in language use is one of the prerequisites for its successful instruction and acquisition. Hence, needs analysis focused corpus research is also a major part of the issue's brief. Last but not least, the issue highlights some applications of technology in vocabulary instruction and learning. In the following, we briefly discuss some of the questions the contributors to this issue are trying to address. This is followed by brief summary reviews of the papers themselves.

Key Topics in Vocabulary Research

Since "language ability is to quite a large extent a function of vocabulary size" (Alderson, 2005, p. 88), it is imperative that language educators understand the processes that lead to vocabulary growth. The current issue focuses on many aspects of the acquisition of vocabulary in an additional language. Additional language or L2 can be any language which is not the first language of the learner, while its vocabulary can be acquired incidentally or learned deliberately. Incidental vocabulary learning occurs while learners are focused on something other than learning the vocabulary itself (Paribakht & Wesche, 1996). In addition to repeated encounters with a word (Nation, 2006), such learning requires strategies of determining and consolidating the meaning of new words (Schmitt, 1997), as well as some rehearsal, encoding and activation effort (Gu & Johnson, 1996). Therefore, reading, with or without the use of a dictionary (Gu & Johnson, 1996), may present ample opportunities for incidental learning (Nation, 2006). In particular, reading-based and writing-intensive university courses delivered in English could afford the ideal platform for incidental acquisition of general, technical and subtechnical English vocabulary by students of non-English speaking backgrounds (Coxhead, 2000). While there is evidence of current research interest in intentional learning of English vocabulary in additional language contexts, incidental learning seems to be less represented and is mainly investigated in small-sample qualitative studies (e.g. Song & Fox, 2008). Dodigovic, Ma and Jing (this issue) touch upon incidental vocabulary learning, whereas Colovic-Markovic (this issue), Jeaco (this issue) as well as Jones and Waller (this issue) consider activities directed toward deliberate vocabulary learning.

Although incidental vocabulary learning is an accepted concept, vocabulary is not acquired entirely by chance. On the contrary, its acquisition is facilitated by certain learning strategies. Intake and subsequent integration of new lexical knowledge normally require repeated input processing during multiple experiences with a word (Nation, 2006). Hatch and Brown (1995) see the word-learning process as a "series of sieves"

*Tel.: +374 60612-740; Email: mdodigovic@aua.am; 40 Marshal Baghramyan Ave., Yerevan, 0019, Armenia

2017 TESOL International Journal Vol. 12 Issue 1 🔲 ISSN 2094-3938

through which a new word must pass as it gains entry into the learner's lexicon (p. 373). According to Gu and Johnson (1996), vocabulary learning strategies are classified into four groups: metacognitive, cognitive, memory, and activation strategies. Metacognitive strategies, include selective attention as well as self-initiation strategies, while cognitive strategies include the use of dictionaries, guessing and note taking strategies. Memory strategies consist of rehearsal and encoding strategies. Finally, activation strategies are those that learners utilize in order to use the new words in various contexts. Schmitt (1997) classifies vocabulary learning strategies into two groups. The first group determines the meaning of new vocabulary items which the learners face for the first time, and contains determination and social strategies. The second group, on the other hand, entails strategies which consolidate the meaning of vocabulary items when encountered again by the learners. This group consists of cognitive, memory, and social strategies. However, not much is known about the relative frequency or effectiveness of each of the above strategies. Xu and Hsie (this issue) look into such strategies and their representation.

There are two types of vocabulary knowledge: receptive and productive (Nation, 2006). Receptive vocabulary enables the learner to comprehend readings or listenings. In this volume, Masrai and Milton (this issue) discuss this aspect of vocabulary. Productive vocabulary, on the other hand, facilitates the productive skills of speaking and writing. In addition to vocabulary size, which is expressed in the number of words a learner knows, vocabulary is also measured in terms of depth (Beglar & Nation, 2007). Depth concerns everything a learner knows about a word, including ways of spelling and pronouncing it, the sentence structure it requires, its part of speech, the functions it can have in connected discourse, the contexts in which it can possibly occur, other words that may accompany it, the idiomatic expressions it is known to build and the connotations it can have (Folse, 2004). Brumbaugh and Heift (this issue) build on the concept of vocabulary depth. It is expected that in productive skills, such as speaking and writing, a larger vocabulary size would have the effect of a greater lexical range used, while a greater depth of vocabulary knowledge would result in a more accurate and skillful use of vocabulary.

Tests such as Vocabulary Size Test (VST) are often used to measure the size of the learners' vocabulary (Beglar & Nation, 2007). This test has been specifically developed to "provide a reliable, accurate, and comprehensive measure" (Beglar, 2010, p. 103) of L2 English learners' receptive vocabulary in its written form, including the 14,000 most frequent word families in English. Other such tests are described in this issue. However, it is more difficult to measure vocabulary depth in relation to productive vocabulary size. This is further discussed by Roghani and Milton (this issue).

Instances of language use lacking in accuracy, otherwise known as language errors, are significant in three respects: they inform the teacher about what should be taught; they inform the researcher about the course of learning; they are outcomes of the learner's target language hypothesis testing (James, 1998). The sources of error are deemed to be the redundancy of code (intralingual), various sources of interference (interlingual) and unsuitable presentation (George, 1972). Similarly, James (1998) distinguished between a slip, an odd mistake or a systemic error. A slip is expected to result in self-correction, a mistake calls for feedback, while error requires full correction of the erroneous utterance. In this volume, Augustin-Llach (this issue) examines a range of lexical errors.

According to Cook and Singleton (2014), second language acquisition (SLA) is primarily concerned with the interplay between a learner's first (L1) and an additional language (L2). Thus Li (2014) identifies such an interplay in the interlanguage of Chinese learners of English. According to Wang (2014), this is characterized by the structural and lexical patterns of Chinese in the learner's grammatical and lexical choices in English, which are not necessarily transparent to other speakers of English, thus potentially obscuring comprehension. In particular, lexis in L2 often adopts the L1 semantic features (Cook & Singleton, 2014). An example of this is a Chinese student asking at the end of a presentation: "Do you have a problem?" The Chinese equivalent "问题 (wen ti)" means both a question and a problem. Collocations or multi-word units present another challenge for L2 learners (Yamashita & Jiang, 2010). An example of the influence of L1 on collocations in English as L2 is "eat medicine" (rather than "take medicine"), based on Chinese "吃药 (chi yao)". These examples represent evidence of subordinate bilingualism, which according to Cook and Singleton (2014) has its roots in translation as a

teaching/learning method. Dodigovic (2014) found that learners with limited vocabulary use bilingual dictionaries with only one English translation equivalent, which also restricts the depth of their English vocabulary (Schmitt, 2010). In line with this, Dodigovic, Ma and Jing (this issue) pursue such patterns in the writing of Chinese learners of English.

Vocabulary is ideally suited to corpus linguistic approaches in research and teaching. The term corpus commonly "refers to an electronic text" (Holmes, 1999, p. 241) and is often in fact a compilation of text samples that one wants to examine for vocabulary use or other features. Special software is applied to find out, for example, which words or expressions are most frequently used by an author or a group of authors. Having a corpus of authentic language data gives one the opportunity to either postulate very specific hypotheses or identify patterns through corpus data analysis (Tognini-Bonelli, 2001). As a method, corpus linguistics allows for a quantitative approach, in that it counts the occurrences of the examined linguistic phenomena.

When applied to language learning, this method can be very helpful. It can be used to gain a better understanding of how the target student population uses language and what misconceptions the students might have about the additional language they are learning. While some researchers prefer to profile the vocabulary (Cobb, 2004) of either the learners or their learning resources, others use learner corpora to gain a better understanding of learner errors (Granger, 2003). The latter include Dodigovic, Ma and Jing (this issue). Furthermore, many have used target language corpora to teach language, a technology enhanced approach that is sometimes called data-driven (Allan, 1999; Levy, 1997). This topic is also pursued by Jeaco (this issue).

Vocabulary is also important in educational needs analysis. Needs analysis refers to a procedure in language planning (Nunan, 1988). This procedure serves three main purposes (Richards, 1984, cited in Nunan, 1988). Firstly, it can be used to obtain wider input into content, design and implementation of a language programme. Secondly, it can be used to develop goals, objectives and content for a language programme. Finally, it can provide data for programme evaluation. It can on the one hand be based on soft data and opinions or on hard data, such as linguistic facts (Johns, 1997).

With its force of hard data evidence, the corpus approach is particularly useful in raising the teacher's awareness of their students' learning needs, but it can also be used to demonstrate to the students and the respective institution how their use of language differs from the targeted standard. Indeed, the level of institutional language awareness can be raised to the point at which the institution becomes able to anticipate learning problems and better facilitate teaching, learning and assessment. In particular, corpus analysis can help institutions decide whether the teaching materials and methods used are conducive to learning success. Technology plays a key role in making that hard evidence readily available. In this volume, Quero (this issue) as well as McGarrell and Nguien (this issue) take this approach. Other uses of technology with respect to vocabulary are described by Jeaco (this issue) as well as Brumbaugh and Heift (this issue).

Papers in This Issue

As can be seen from the discussion above, the contributions to this issue are interlinked through a multiplicity of topics, so it was not easy to group them or decide in which order to present them. The current order follows to some extent the topical development from the previous section of this paper, from learning strategies via deliberate and incidental learning, lexical errors, receptive and productive vocabulary size and depth to corpus based needs analysis and technology.

Xu and Hsu develop a new Inventory of Strategies for Vocabulary Learning (SIVL), which appears to be more appropriate to the Chinese context. To validate their instrument their paper reports on confirmatory and exploratory factor analyses, and their findings demonstrate the reliability and validity of SIVL as a research instrument for assessing the strategy use of English language learners in this context at university level. Moreover, they point to ways in which the SIVL could become a resource for raising the awareness of both language learners and teachers of strategy use and strategy training, thereby strengthening vocabulary teaching and learning.

Colovic-Markovic discusses the explicit instruction of formulaic language. The research on formulaic language in L2 writing emphasizes the essential role of topic-induced word combinations (Erman, 2009). Her

study compares the improvements in productive use of target structures for a treatment group, who received explicit instruction, and a contrast group. The results demonstrate the gains of explicit instruction for the production of topic-induced phrases and the paper explores some of the attitudes of the language learners through analysis of interviews.

Jones and Waller present a quasi-experimental study examining textual and aural input enhancement for vocabulary teaching at an elementary level in a higher education context. The enhancements provided for the treatment group consisted of the bolding of target words in a menu and three repetitions of the modeling of the words by the teacher. Their results demonstrate some clear benefits of both kinds of enhancement when teaching lexis.

Augustin-Llach takes the evidence of lexical errors for a theoretical exploration of EFL vocabulary teaching, reviewing previous research and suggesting new ways to engage pedagogically with lexical errors. By drawing on a solid research base, the fusion of analyses from different studies in this important area leads directly into some practical implications and calls for broader appreciation of the need for explicit vocabulary instruction through a range of approaches.

Dodigovic, Ma and Jing reveal insights into first language (L1) lexical transfer within the context of L1 Chinese learners of English through analysis of individual words, collocations and multi-word units. In a cross-sectional study of written work from university students, they demonstrate that the most frequent cause of errors is the L1 polysemy of individual words, with multi-word units (MWU) and collocation errors following after. They also find a slight but not statistically significant drop in the frequency of lexical transfer errors in the more advanced learner group in all three of these areas.

Jeaco discusses the use of corpora in vocabulary learning and reports on an evaluation of a concordancing tool which was designed for English language learners and teachers. The software tool, called *The Prime Machine* (Jeaco, 2015), includes support features for conducting searches on vocabulary and language patterns, encouraging language discovery processes for the comparison of specific words and collocations. This paper introduces some of the pedagogical perspectives on the software design, and reports on the positive reception of the software from students with little or no prior experience in concordancing work.

Brumbaugh and Heift present an empirical investigation into the use of a Computer Assisted Language Learning (CALL) tool for the assessment of the depth of vocabulary knowledge of intermediate L2 English learners. The study introduces the design and use of *Bricklayer* and the findings provide evidence of the validity of this assessment tool, and the paper explains how such an approach strengthens models of both knowledge and behavior for CALL adaptive systems.

Masrai and Milton's paper explores predictors of academic achievement, building on work on general and academic vocabulary knowledge (Townsend et al., 2012) and general intelligence (Laidra et al., 2007). Their examination of these and additional factors adds to a predictive model, drawing on L1 vocabulary knowledge, L2 general and academic vocabulary knowledge, and intelligence (IQ). They demonstrate the way in which each element in the model makes unique contributions, and how the four elements explain different aspects of variance in the academic achievement data.

Roghani and Milton investigate the usefulness and effectiveness of a category generation task for productive vocabulary size assessment. For the assessment, learners would be asked to make a list of words within a specific category and be asked to list words. The resulting list of words can then be compared with receptive vocabulary size estimates. Through analysis of results from learners at different levels of performance, and comparison with two standardised tests, they demonstrate that the category generation tasks are reliable and effective.

McGarrell and Nguien tackle the question of optimal language input for institutional contexts where textbooks form the basis for instruction. They present an analysis of lexical bundles in a popular textbook of General English, comparing these with frequently occurring lexical bundles in corpora. The analysis looks at the functions of the lexical bundles covered and their usefulness. Their findings demonstrate limitations in the usefulness of the lexical bundles in the textbook, and the authors argue for more attention to be paid to lexical bundles in language teaching and materials development.

Last but not least, Quero reports on a subject-specific study into the vocabulary load of English medical handbooks, considering the lexical demands in terms of the number of words needed for comprehension of medical texts. The study used a corpus approach, drawing on existing word lists and making comparisons between the medical text corpus and a corpus built from seven general English corpora. The results provide insights into the vocabulary needs of medical students and health professionals, with a long list of subject-specific (medical) words having been generated through this approach.

Conclusion

This issue covers a range of topics related to teaching, researching, learning and assessing vocabulary in an additional language. Each of the papers furthers our understanding of issues such as incidental and deliberate vocabulary learning in terms of vocabulary depth or size, and each considers their roles in areas such as academic success, teaching of lexical phrases and their representation in textbooks as well as the vocabulary required to succeed in certain academic disciplines. The editors are confident that each reader will be able to identify at least some points of relevance in relation to their own research or practice.

References

Alderson, J. C. (2005). Diagnosing foreign language proficiency. London: Continuum.

- Allan, M. (1999). Language awareness and the support role of technology. In R. Debski and M. Levy (Eds.) WORLDCALL. Global Perspectives on Computer-Assisted Language Learning (pp. 303 – 318). Lisse: Swets & Zeitlinger.
- Beglar, D. (2010). A Rasch-based validation of the vocabulary size test. Language Testing, 27 (1), 101-118.
- Beglar, D. & Nation, P. (2007). Vocabulary size Test.
- Cobb, T. (2004). The Compleat Lexical Tutor, <u>www.lextutor.ca</u>, Acessed 4 June 2004.
- Cook, V. & Singleton, D. (2014). Key Topics in Second Language Acquisition. Bristol: Multilingual Matters.
- Coxhead, A. (2000). The academic word list. TESOL Quarterly. 34 (2), 213 238.
- Dodigovic, M. (2014). Strategies used by successful learners within the context of incidental vocabulary acquisition in an additional language. RDF Project Completion Report, XJTLU.
- Erman, B. (2009). Formulaic Language from a learner perspective: What the learner needs to know. In R. Corrigan, E. A. Moravcssik, H. Ouali, and K.M. Wheatley (Eds.), *Formulaic Language*, Volume 2, (pp. 323-346) Philadelphia: John Benjamin Publishing Company.
- Folse, K. (2004). Vocabulary myths: Applying second language research to classroom teaching. Ann Arbour: University of Michigan Press.
- George, H. (1972) Common Errors in Language Learning. Rowley: Newbury House.
- Granger, S. (2003). Error-tagged learner corpora and CALL: A promising synergy, *CALICO Journal* 20 (3), 465 480.
- Gu, Y., & Johnson, R. K. (1996). Vocabulary learning strategies and language learning outcomes. Language Learning, 46, 643-679.
- Hatch, E. & C. Brown. (1995). Vocabulary, Semantics and Language Education. New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Holmes, G. (1999). Corpus CALL: Corpora in language and literature. In K. Cameron, (Ed.) CALL: Media, design and applications (pp. 239-270). Lisse: Swets and Zeitlinger.
- James, C. (1998). Errors in language learning and use: Exploring error analysis. Routledge.
- Johns, A. M. (1997) Text, Role and Context. Developing Academic Literacies. New Yourk: Cambridge University Press.
- Levy, M. (1997). Theory-driven CALL and the Development Process. Computer Assisted Language Learning, 10 (1), 41-56
- Li, W. (2014). New Chinglish: Translanguaging Creativity and Criticality. Keynote speech, AILA World Congress 2014, Brisbane.
- Nation, I. S. P. (2006). Language education vocabulary. In K. Brown (ed.) Encyclopaedia of Language and Linguistics, 2nd Ed. Oxford: Elsevier. Vol 6: 494-499.
- Nunan, D. (1988). The Learner-Centred Curriculum. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

- Paribakht, T.S. & Wesche, M. (1996). Enhancing Vocabulary Acquisition Through Reading: A Hierarchy of Text-Related Exercise Types. The Canadian Modern Language Review, 52(2), 155-178.
- Schmitt, N. (1997). Vocabulary learning strategies. In Schmitt & McCarthy 1997:199-227.
- Schmitt, N. (2010). Researching vocabulary: A vocabulary research manual. London: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Song Y. & Fox, R. (2008). Integrating Incidental Vocabulary Learning Using PDAs into Academic Studies: Undergraduate Student Experiences. *Lecture Notes in Computer Science* 5169:2008, 238 – 249.
- Tognini-Bonelli, E. (2001). Corpus linguistics at work. Amsterdam: John Benjamins.
- Townsend, D., Filippini, A., Collins, P., & Biancarosa, G. (2012). Evidence for the importance of academic word knowledge for the academic achievement of diverse middle school students. *The Elementary School Journal*, 112(3), 497-518.
- Wang, Y. (2014). Chinese Speakers' Attitudes Towards Their Own English: ELF or Interlanguage. *Teaching English in China*, 5, 7 12.
- Yamashita, J. & Jiang, N. (2010). L1 Influence on the Acquisition of L2 Collocations: Japanese ESL Users and EFL Learners Acquiring English Collocations. *TESOL Quarterly*, 44 (4), 647 – 668.

About the authors

Marina Dodigovic, PhD, is a professor at the American University of Armenia. Previously, she served as the director of both the MA TESOL program and the Research Centre for Language Technology at Xi'an Jiaotong-Liverpool Uuniversity. Her research interests have gravitated toward vocabulary teaching, learning and assessment.

Stephen Jeaco, PhD, is an Associate Professor at Xi'an Jiaotong-Liverpool University. He has worked in China since 1999 in the fields of EAP, linguistics and TESOL. His PhD was supervised by Professor Michael Hoey and focused on developing a user-friendly corpus tool based on the theory of Lexical Priming.

Rining WEI (Tony), PhD, is a Lecturer in the Department of English, Xi'an Jiaotong-Liverpool University, Suzhou, China. His areas of research include argumentation, TESOL, and quantitative research methods. His papers have appeared in journals including *English Today*, *Asian EFL Journal*, *Journal of Multilingual and Multicultural Development*, and *World Englishes*.

A new inventory of vocabulary learning strategy for Chinese tertiary EFL learners

Xuelian Xu

Xi'an Jiaotong-Liverpool University, China

Wen-Cheng Hsu

Xi'an Jiaotong-Liverpool University, China

Abstract

The past three decades have witnessed a boost of interest in vocabulary learning in EFL contexts since Meara (1980) identified it as 'a neglected aspect of language learning' (p. 221). A mushrooming amount of literature has emerged in various aspects of vocabulary and its acquisition (e.g., Carter, 1998; Coady & Huckin, 1997; Manyak, 2010; Meara, 1995, 2005; Nation, 1990, 2006; Read, 2000; Schmitt, 2000; Schmitt & McCarthy, 1997). With a movement from teaching-orientedness to learner-certeredness and learner autonomy, vocabulary learning strategies seem to have gained its legitimacy as one auxiliary approach to vocabulary learning. Despite this, there appears no satisfactory instrument particularly for assessing vocabulary learning strategy use in an EFL context, although a few researchers have tried to do so (e.g., Gu & Johnson, 1996; Schmitt, 1997). To this aim, a new inventory for vocabulary learning, the Strategies Inventory for Vocabulary Learning (SIVL) was proposed for Chinese EFL university learners. To validate the instrument, confirmatory and exploratory factor analyses were employed to assess its psychometric properties. Results showed that the hypothesized theoretical model proved to be a good representation of the sample data, and that the SIVL exhibited satisfactory psychometric features. This positive evidence indicates that the SIVL can serve as a reliable and valid research instrument for assessing Chinese EFL university learners' vocabulary learning strategy use. It is suggested that the SIVL can be a valuable resource for EFL learners and practitioners in that it can raise their awareness of strategy use and strategy training by employing this instrument, leading to more successful vocabulary teaching and learning.

Key words : Vocabulary learning, Learning strategies, Vocabulary learning strategies, Strategy classification, Strategy inventory, Factor analysis

"I Used Them Because I Had to . . .": The Effects of Explicit Instruction of Topic-Induced Word Combinations on ESL Writers

Jelena Colovic-Markovic

West Chester University of Pennsylvania, USA

Abstract

This study attempts to determine whether the students who receive explicit instruction make more gains in their abilities to use topic-induced phrases in their writing than those who do not. Additionally, through interviews with a selected group of students from the treatment group, the study attempts to glean insights into the approaches learners use for written production of the target phrases. Data was collected from 54 ESL students in high-intermediate writing classes at an IEP who were assigned to the contrast (N=19) and treatment (N=35) groups based on their class enrollment. Over a period of four days, the treatment group received training on 15 target structures. The contrast group received no vocabulary instruction. Both groups were exposed to the

target phrases through reading the same course materials and discussing them in class. The data included the scores participants received on the production of the target structures in their essays at the beginning and end of term. A repeated-measures ANOVA revealed that while both groups made improvement, it was the treatment group that made more signilcant gains in their abilities to produce topic-induced phrases than the contrast. The interviews' Indings indicated the students' perceptions of the usefulness of the target structures may in3uence whether or not learners employ them in writing. The study Indings suggest that explicit instruction is helpful for the writers' abilities to produce topic-induced phrases. These Indings have implications for ESL writing pedagogy.

Key words: explicit instruction, topic-induced phrases, topic-related vocabulary, ESL writing.

The Effect of Input Enhancement on Vocabulary Learning: Is There An Impact upon Receptive And Productive Knowledge?

Christian Jones

University of Liverpool, UK

Daniel Waller

University of Central Lancashire, UK

Abstract

This article reports on a quasi-experimental study investigating the effectiveness of two different teaching approaches, explicit teaching and explicit teaching combined with textual and aural input enhancement used to teach lexical items to elementary level learners of Turkish in a higher education context. Forty participants were divided into two equal groups and given a pre-test measuring productive and receptive knowledge of nine targeted lexical items naming common types of food and drink. Each group was then given sixty minutes instruction on 'restaurant Turkish', using a direct communicative approach. Group one (contrast group) received explicit teaching only, while group two (treatment group) received the same teaching but also used a menu where the target words were bolded (textual input enhancement) and listened to the target words modeled by the teacher three times (aural input enhancement). Following the treatment, tests measuring productive and receptive knowledge of the target items were administered. This process was repeated with a delay of two weeks following the treatment. Analysis of gain scores for receptive and productive tests made at the pre-, post- and delayed stage reveal larger gains for the treatment group in each test. These were statistically significant when compared with the contrast group's scores for production at the immediate post-test stage. Within group tests showed that each treatment had a significant impact on receptive and productive knowledge of vocabulary targeted, with a larger short term effect on the treatment group. Previous studies in this area have tended to focus on the use of input enhancement in relation to the learning of grammatical forms but these results demonstrate some clear benefits when teaching lexis, which have clear implications for further research and teaching.

Key words: Input enhancement; textual enhancement; aural enhancement; Turkish vocabulary; beginners

Vocabulary Teaching: Insights from Lexical Errors

Ma Pilar Agustín-Llach

Universidad de La Rioja, Spain

Abstract

This paper offers a theoretical approach to vocabulary instruction from the evidence provided by lexical errors as the main sources of difficulty in the EFL acquisition process, it reviews previous research and from it suggests new ways of dealing with lexical errors in the classroom. Some practical implications are concluded which rely on lexical error categories identified in previous studies. Our main starting point is that lexical errors can serve as a guideline for teachers and researchers to improve vocabulary instruction. Identifying the main causes of lexical errors can help teachers understand the difficulties of their learners and assist them in planning and designing lessons and materials for the vocabulary class. Embarking from this premise, we have reviewed the main lexical error sources identified in the literature and provided some suggestions for vocabulary instruction.

Keywords: lexical errors, cross-linguistic influence (CLI) in vocabulary, remedying strategies, vocabulary instruction, explicit teaching

Lexical transfer in the writing of Chinese learners of English

Marina Dodigovic

American University of Armenia, Armenia

Chengchen Ma

Xi'an Jiaotong-Liverpool University, China

Song Jing

Australian National University, Australia

Abstract

This study aims to further the understanding of first language (L1) lexical transfer within the context of L1 Chinese learners of English. Previous transfer research has often focused on a small subset of grammar errors, without examining how lexical choices, especially in collocations and multi-word units (MWU), might have been influenced by L1 or L1-based assumptions about vocabulary use. There is therefore a need to look for evidence of L1 transfer or word-for-word translation from the native language in L2 production at each of the three levels: individual words, collocations and MWU. Such errors points to subordinate bilingualism, which is rooted in translation as a teaching/learning method (Cook, 2014), which is common in China (Edmunds, 2013). Therefore this paper addresses the following research questions: 1) To what extent does the transfer of L1 word polysemy, collocations, and MWU impact Chinese learners' English vocabulary use? 2) Are more advanced learners as prone to L1 lexical transfer errors as the less advanced ones? The approach used here is corpus-linguistic. The main research task is to examine an existing corpus of Chinese student writing in English and analyze and classify the identified lexical transfer errors. The findings indicate that the most common of these are errors caused by L1 polysemy in individual words, followed by MWU and collocation errors. More advanced learners appear to be slightly but not significantly less prone to lexical transfer errors. Instruction which follows the recommendations made in this paper is likely to prevent the onset of such errors.

Keywords: lexical transfer, polysemy, collocation, multi-word unit, subordinate bilingualism

Helping Language Learners Get Started with Concordancing

Stephen Jeaco

Xi'an Jiaotong-Liverpool University, China

Abstract

While studies exploring the overall effectiveness of Data Driven Learning activities have been positive, learner participants often seem to report difficulties in deciding what to look up, and how to formulate appropriate queries for a search (Gabel, 2001; Sun, 2003; Yeh, Liou, & Li, 2007). The Prime Machine (Jeaco, 2015) was developed as a concordancing tool to be used specifically for looking up, comparing and exploring vocabulary and language patterns for English language teaching and self-tutoring. The design of this concordancer took a pedagogical perspective on the corpus techniques and methods to be used, focusing on English for Academic Purposes and including important software design principles from Computer Aided Language Learning. The software includes a range of search support and display features which try to make the comparison process for exploring specific words and collocations easier. This paper reports on student use of this concordancer, drawing on log data records from mouse clicks and software features as well as questionnaire responses from the participants. Twenty-three undergraduate students from a Sino-British university in China participated in the evaluation. Results from logs of search support features and general use of the software are compared with questionnaire responses from before and after the session. It is believed that *The Prime Machine* can be a very useful corpus tool which, while simple to operate, provides a wealth of information for language learning. Key words: Concordancer, Data Driven Learning, Lexical Priming, Corpus linguistics.

Self-assigned Ranking of L2 Vocabulary

Heidi Brumbaugh

Simon Fraser University, Burnaby, BC, Canada

Trude Heift

Simon Fraser University, Burnaby, BC, Canada

Abstract

This article describes a research study that determined the depth of vocabulary knowledge of 28 intermediate ESL learners. The study was carried out with Bricklayer, a vocabulary assessment tool for L2 English which tested the ESL learners on 72 words. Two post-tests collected evidence for concurrent validity. A semantic distance test captured incremental knowledge for 36 words, but Bricklayer's predictive power for this partial knowledge was weak. A standard multiple-choice test of the remaining 36 words showed that Bricklayer predicted 61% of known words and 69% of unknown words; results were better for words which were *strongly* predicted to be known or unknown. These findings provide promise that Bricklayer's assessment paradigm assists in building up models of students' knowledge and behaviour in CALL environments.

Keywords: Computer Assisted Language Learning, vocabulary assessment, vocabulary depth, meta-cognition, self-assessment

Recognition Vocabulary Knowledge and Intelligence as Predictors of Academic Achievement in EFL Context

Ahmed Masrai

King Abdulaziz Military Academy, Saudi Arabia

James Milton

Swansea University, UK

Abstract

Research has shown that general vocabulary knowledge (e.g., Milton & Treffers-Daller, 2013), academic vocabulary knowledge (e.g., Townsend et al., 2012) and general intelligence (e.g., Laidra et al., 2007) are good predictors of academic achievement. While the effect of these factors has mostly been examined separately, Townsend et al. (2012) have tried to model the contribution of general and academic vocabulary to academic achievement and find academic vocabulary knowledge adds only marginally to the predictive ability of general vocabulary knowledge. This study, therefore, examines further factors as part of a more extensive predictive model of academic performance, including L1 vocabulary knowledge, L2 general and academic vocabulary knowledge, and intelligence (IQ) as predictors of overall academic achievement among learners of EFL. Performance on these measures was correlated with Grade Point Average (GPA) as a measure of academic achievement for undergraduate Arabic L1 users (N = 96). The results show positive significant correlations between all the measures and academic achievement. However, academic vocabulary knowledge shows the strongest correlation (r = .72) suggesting that the pedagogical use of this list remains important. To further explore the data, multiple regression and factor analyses were performed. The results show that academic and general vocabulary knowledge combined can explain about 56% of the variance in students' GPAs. The findings, thus, suggest that, in addition to L1 and L2 vocabulary size, and IQ, knowledge of academic vocabulary is an important factor that explains an additional variance in learners' academic achievement.

Keywords: academic achievement, academic vocabulary, general vocabulary, intelligence, L1 vocabulary

Using Category Generation Tasks to Estimate Productive Vocabulary Size in a Foreign Language

Shadan Roghani Swansea University, UK

James Milton

Swansea University, UK

Abstract

This paper reports an investigation into whether a test of productive vocabulary size using a category generation task can be useful and effective. A category generation task is a simple task where learners are asked to name as many as words as they can from a prescribed category such as *animals* or *body parts*. The virtue of this approach is that it potentially allows an estimate of productive vocabulary size, comparable to receptive size estimates, to be made. Four such tasks were trialled on 92 learners ranging from elementary to advanced level. Subjects also took Nation's Productive Vocabulary Levels Test (PVLT) (2001) and Meara & Milton's X-Lex (2003). The results suggest that category generation tasks can produce vocabulary size estimates and these are comparable in size with PVLT and about one third of the size of a receptive vocabulary size estimate (X-Lex). The tests appeared very reliable and can distinguish between learners of different levels of performance. There are still issues to be resolved concerning the tasks which can be used and the volumes of vocabulary they can potentially obtain. Factor analysis suggests the receptive and all the productive tasks test a single factor.

Key words: productive vocabulary, vocabulary size, category generation task, vocabulary assessment, frequency vocabulary bands

How General is the Vocabulary in a General English Language Textbook?

Hedy McGarrell Brock University, Canada

Nga Tuiet Zyong Nguien Brock University, Canada

Abstract

This study reports on the analysis of a widely used "General English" textbook to explore the relationship between lexical bundles included in the text and lexical bundles identified in relevant corpora to determine the appropriateness of the text's vocabulary in relation to its stated objective. Appropriateness is examined through the analysis of usefulness and functions, and the relationship between the two, by comparing the usefulness scores of various functions. The results show a relatively low level of usefulness of the lexical bundles in the textbook, meaning low frequency and small range of usage for the analysed items. The function analysis showed that textbook includes all the functions. The most common function was referential, followed by stance, special conversational, and discourse organizing functions. The current study offers an initial step for future research of lexical bundles and their functions, and usefulness in language teaching and teaching materials development; specifically, it suggests a possible methodology to be used in such research. Moreover, the results of this study provide insights into the value of lexical bundles in teaching and the development of teaching materials.

Keywords: multiword constructions, corpus research, English textbooks, textbook design

A Corpus Comparison Approach for Estimating the Vocabulary Load of Medical Textbooks Using The GSL, AWL, and EAP Science Lists

Betsy Quero

Victoria University of Wellington, New Zealand

Abstract

The main goal of this study is to report on the number of words (vocabulary load)

native and non-native readers of medical textbooks written in English need to know in order to be able to meet the lexical demands of this type of subject-specific (medical) texts. For estimating the vocabulary load of medical textbooks, a corpus comparison approach and some existing word lists, popular in ESP and EAP, were used. The present investigation aims to answer the following questions: (1) How many words are needed beyond the General Service List (GSL; West, 1953), the Academic Word List (AWL; Coxhead, 2000), and the EAP Science List (Coxhead and Hirsh, 2007) to achieve a good lexical text coverage and (2) What is the vocabulary load of medical textbooks written in English? The implementation of this corpus comparison approach consisted of: (1) making a written medical corpus of 5.4 million tokens, (2) compiling a general written corpus of the same size (5.4 million tokens), (3) running both corpora (i.e., the medical and general) through some existing word lists (i.e., the GSL, the AWL, and the EAP Science List), and (4) creating new subject-specific (medical) word lists beyond the existing word lists used. The system for identifying medical words was based on Chung and Nation's (2003) criteria for classifying specialised vocabulary. The results of this investigation showed that there is a large number of subject-specific (medical) words in medical textbooks. For both native and non-native speakers of English training to be health professionals, this figure represents an enormous amount of vocabulary learning. This paper concludes by considering the value of creating specialised medical word lists for research, teaching and testing purposes.

Key words: medical word lists, vocabulary load, English for medical purposes, text coverage.